1988

Michael H. McCaffery v. Terry Raymond Grow : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred on the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2A-3(2)(h) and Rule 4A of the Utah Rules of the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

In the lower court, Plaintiff/Appellant, Michael H. McCaffery (hereinafter "**McCaffery**" or "**Appellant**"), sought damages for personal injuries and wrongful death arising from an automobile accident on August 27, 1986, from Defendants/Respondents, Terry Raymond Grow, as personal representative of Rodney V. Grow, deceased, and against Patricia Grow as signator on the drivers license application of Rodney Grow, a minor, (hereinafter "**Grow**"), and State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company (hereinafter "**State Farm**").

This appeal is from an order entered in the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, granting State Farm's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Appellant's Motion For Summary Judgment. Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal on June 17, 1988.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether State Farm may enforce by way of definition of a "non-owner car" an exclusion in a no-fault

insurance policy not allowed by Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(2) (1986).

2. Whether such a contractual provision is contrary to public policy and therefore void.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 27, 1986, Christopher M. McCaffery ("**Chris McCaffery**") was fatally injured in an automobile accident while a passenger in the rear seat of an automobile driven by Grow (Deposition of John Graber, Investigating Officer's Report of Traffic Accident ("**Police Report**"), Exhibit "**A**", and R. 130, 135). At the time of the accident Grow had a blood alcohol content of .11 percent. (Police Report, page 17, R. 146).

The automobile Grow was driving and in which Chris McCaffery was a passenger was traveling in excess of 100 miles per hour when it left the highway and impacted a tree at approximately 90 miles per hour. (R. 131, 135). The posted speed limit was 50 miles per hour. (R. 134, and Graber deposition, page 49).

Grow's mother, Pat Grow, signed Grow's driver's license application. (R. 7 and admitted in Pat Grow's Answer, ¶2). Grow was 17 years of age at the time of his death. (Death Certificate R. 154).

McCaffery's special damages incurred as a result of Grow's negligence exceeds \$8,819.00. (R. 106).

Grow did not own the automobile he was driving which was involved in the accident. (R. 130).

At the time of the accident, State Farm insured Rodney Grow and Defendant Pat Grow for liability arising from use of non-owned vehicles. (Automobile Policy, R. at 73, 76). The policy also contains coverage required by the Utah No-Fault Insurance Act (the "Act"), Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-301, et seq. (R. 78).

McCaffery has settled all claims against all defendants except State Farm. McCaffery seeks personal injury protection benefits ("PIP") and attorneys' fees against State Farm which matters were specifically reserved in the settlement with the other defendants. (R. 211-214).

Grow did not have permission from the owner of the automobile, Michael Morris, to drive or use the automobile. Grow and a mutual friend, Michael Jendrycka, discovered that the key to Jendrycka's automobile also fit the Morris automobile and took turns driving the Morris vehicle at fast rates of speed. Grow drove on the last occasion in which the accident occurred. (R 49, 50).

State Farm refuses to pay personal injury protection benefits as required by the policy and the Act upon the grounds that an individual is covered for accidents arising out of the

use of non-owned cars only when they are used with the permission of the owner. (R. 73).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Utah No-Fault Insurance Act, (Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-301 et. seq.) requires mandatory minimum coverage for motor vehicle insurance known as Personal Injury Protection hereinafter ("PIP"). The Financial Responsibility Act (Utah Code Ann. § 41-12a-101, et. seq.) is incorporated into the No-Fault Act. Defendant Pat Grow can discharge her liability under § 41-2-115(2) by providing a policy which complies with the No-Fault Act and the Financial Responsibility Act.

In 1986 the legislature amended the No-Fault Act and provided for only certain specified exclusions. Those exclusions are found at Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(2). The contractual exclusion relied upon by State Farm is not provided under the express limitations allowed by 31A-22-309(2). As between the insured and the insurer, there can be certain restrictions, but as between the types of coverage for the benefit of innocent victims, the only exclusions are those specifically allowed by statute.

Public policy has been clearly enunciated in Utah about the need and purpose of PIP benefits. In State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. v. Mastbaum, 748 P.2d 1042 (Utah 1987) the Utah

Supreme Court citing Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Call, 712

P.2d 231 (Utah 1985) declared at 1042-3 that:

In that case [Call], we held that a household or family exclusion claims in an automobile insurance policy contravenes the statutory requirements found in Utah's No-Fault Insurance Act . . . now Section 31A-22-306-309 . . . as to minimum benefits which must be provided to all persons sustaining personal injuries.

(Emphasis supplied).

Public policy has been declared by the Utah Supreme Courts as well as the legislature to allow only specified exclusions. The amendment to the No-Fault Act (1986) is clear evidence of Utah's sound public policy.

Finally, the gross ambiguities in State Farm's insurance policy should be construed in favor of the insured to provide personal injury protection to injured persons in compliance with Utah law.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT A PRIVATE AGREEMENT COULD NULLIFY A STATUTE WHICH WAS ENACTED FOR THE PUBLIC BENEFIT

The policy exclusion on which State Farm relied to deny coverage on personal injury protection to Appellant does not comply with the provisions of Utah law and is an impermissible exclusion under the No-Fault Insurance Act.

Appellant is entitled to the personal injury protection coverage afforded by Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-307, which coverage State Farm has refused to provide to Pat Grow on Appellant's behalf.

Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309 designates the exclusions an insurer may attach to a policy providing personal injury protection. Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309 provides in pertinent part:

(2)(a) Any insurer issuing personal injury protection coverage under this part may only exclude from this coverage benefits:

(i) for any injury sustained by the injured while occupying another motor vehicle owned by the insured and not insured under the policy;

(ii) for any injury sustained by any person while operating the insured motor vehicle without the express or implied consent of the insured or while not in lawful possession the insured motor vehicle; or

(iii) to any injured person, if the person's conduct contributed to his injury:

(A) by intentionally causing injury to himself; or

(B) while committing a felony.

(Emphasis supplied).

The exclusion on which State Farm relies is not allowed under Utah law. State Farm's contention that in order to provide personal injury protection to passengers in a non-owned automobile the use of the non-owned automobile must be within

the scope of consent of the owner or person in lawful possession of the vehicle. This exclusion by definition of "non-owned car" finds no place in the permissible exclusions under Utah law. The Court need look no further than the plain language of the statute to determine that the exclusion is unlawful and impermissible.

The Utah Supreme Court recently clarified Utah law concerning exclusions under personal injury protection benefits. In Mastbaum, supra, the Utah Supreme Court considered whether a household exclusion was valid under Utah law. The policy at issue in Mastbaum had been issued before the enactment of the current no-fault law. On that basis, the Court held that the household or family exclusion was valid in Utah as to insurance provided by an automobile policy in excess of statutorily mandated amounts and benefits. However, following recitation of legislative history of the limitations, exclusions and conditions to personal injury protection under Utah law, Justice Durham concluded that such exclusions were now impermissible under the newly enacted legislation and citing Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(2)(a) stated:

The legislature [by enacting Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309] thus removed any ambiguity about the validity of exclusions not specifically mentioned in § 31A-22-309. Insurers may only exclude coverage for the designated reasons.

Id. at 1046. (Emphasis supplied). Justice Zimmerman in a concurring opinion agreed with Justice Durham's conclusion concerning exclusions under personal injury protection and noted:

Justice Durham's recitation of legislative history surrounding the 1986 amendment of the relevant statutes, does persuade me that with respect to insurance policies written after the effective date of the act [July 1, 1986], household number exclusions will be entirely invalid because the Legislature has now made it clear that such exclusions are contrary to public policy.

Id. at 1044. (Emphasis supplied) (Zimmerman, J., concurring).

The exclusion on which State Farm relies is not set forth in § 31-22-309 and, accordingly, State Farm may not exclude the coverage. Any attempt to exclude the coverage is contrary to public policy and violative of the law. Michael H. McCaffery, as personal representative of Christopher M. McCaffery, is entitled to insurance coverage under the policy of Terry Raymond Grow and Pat Grow. Any attempt of State Farm to exclude coverage under the policy must fail. In denying coverage to Grow in this case, State Farm relies on an exclusion not allowed under Utah law. The legislature's enumeration of exceptions brings into play the rule of statutory construction that the legislature intended no others. In Employers Mut. Cas. Co. v. McKeon, 17 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 39 (Ariz. S. Ct., CV-87-0312-PR, filed September 22, 1988), the Supreme Court of Arizona faced a similar conflict between a

private agreement, statute, and sound public policy. In McKeon, the policy had a "named driver exclusion" which was contrary to the statutory exclusions provided under Arizona law. In ruling that a named driver exclusion was impermissible, the McKeon court stated at page 41:

The mandatory language of A.P.R.S. § 20-259.01 coupled with the narrow exceptions allowed in subsection (D), express a legislative design opposing other exclusions.

Utah's No-Fault Act also contains mandatory language requiring all insurance policies to contain personal injury protection and enumerates very narrow exclusions to that coverage. See Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-302(2)(a). As in McKeon, here it should be presumed that the Utah State Legislature intended no other exclusions than those expressly allowed by statute. The mandatory language of the Act, and the listing of specific, narrow exceptions indicates a public policy requiring insurance to protect innocent victims of automobile accidents.

In Mastbaum, supra, Justice Durham concluded that such exclusions other than those enumerated were impermissible under the newly enacted legislation. In her dissenting opinion, Justice Durham described how the previous version of § 31A-22-309 was changed in the new law by the addition of the word "only." Prior to the passage of Senate Bill 91, § 31A-22-309(2) read: "Any insurer may exclude benefits." The

word "may" indicates that the following list is illustrative but not exclusive and, conceivably, could allow an insurer to create other exclusions in the policy. After passage of Senate Bill 91, which was effective approximately two months before Christopher McCaffery's death, § 31A-22-309(2)(a) read: "Any insurer issuing personal injury protection coverage under this part may only exclude from this coverage benefits" As Justice Durham stated, the addition of the word "only," "thus removed any ambiguity about the validity of exclusions not specifically mentioned in § 31A-22-309. Insurers may only exclude coverage for the designated reasons." Mastbaum at 1046.

In Mastbaum, the issue was the validity of a household exclusion. Nevertheless, Justice Durham's analysis in Mastbaum can be used for the exclusion at issue in this case. The legislature intended to confine insurers to the exclusions outlined in the statute. This conclusion is reinforced by the 1988 amendment to Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-303 which allows a policy of motor vehicle liability coverage to include a household exclusion. See Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-303(7). Only the specific exclusions allowed by legislative enactment are permissible under Utah law. If the legislature has not allowed the exclusion, an insurer by private contract cannot circumvent clear legislative mandate and exclude the coverage. Therefore, State Farm must provide PIP benefits to Appellant.

In Farmers Ins. Exchange v. Call, 712 P.2d 231 (Utah 1985), the Supreme Court acknowledged the public policy inherent in the Act and in commenting on the household exclusion stated at page 235:

It would be anomalous if the rights of innocent accident victims, for whose protection the Utah No-Fault Act was adopted, could be defeated by private agreements."

Upholding the lower court's summary judgment in this case also would lead to an anomalous result. Christopher McCaffery, as a passenger, was an innocent victim. State Farm granted coverage under its general liability and no-fault benefits to injuries arising out of the use of a non-owned car. State Farm's attempt to exclude coverage for injuries which may have arisen out of the non-permissive use of a non-owned car conflicts with the purpose of the Act in protecting the rights of innocent victims.

Appellant does not disparage the ability of an insurer and an insured to contract and negotiate on the risks that will be covered and assumed. Nevertheless, as the Supreme Court stated in Call, supra, at page 233:

[A]n insurer may include in a policy any number or kind of exceptions and limitations to which an insured will agree unless contrary to statute or public policy."

(Emphasis added). The exception which State Farm asserts is expressly contrary to the statute and sound public policy and cannot be allowed.

POINT II

PUBLIC POLICY DEMANDS THE VOIDING OF THE EXCLUSION RELIED UPON BY STATE FARM

Utah's public policy relating to mandatory minimum coverage of PIP benefits is evidenced by the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 41-2-115 which provides in part:

Any negligence . . . of a minor younger than 18 years of age when operating a motor vehicle upon a highway is imputed to the person who has signed the application of the minor for a permit or license. This person is jointly and severally liable with the minor for any damages caused by the negligence . . . except as provided under Subsection (3).

. . .
If a minor deposits, or there is deposited on his behalf, proof of financial responsibility in respect to the operation of a motor vehicle he owns, or with respect to the operation of any motor vehicle if he does not own one, in form and in amounts as required under Chapter 12a, Title 41, Financial Responsibility of Motor Vehicle Owners and Operators Act, the division may accept the application of the minor when signed by a parent or guardian of the minor.

The provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 41-12A-402 (1988) provides in part:

Proof of owner's or operator's security may be furnished by filing with the department the written certificate of any insurer licensed in Utah certifying that there is in effect an insurance policy or combination of policies conforming to Section 31A-22-302 for the benefit of the person required to furnish proof of owner's or operator's security.

Every insurer, which is licensed to issue policies in Utah must write a policy which complies with the required minimum found in § 31A-22-302, which provides in part:

Every policy of insurance or combination of policies, purchased to satisfy the owner's or operator's security requirement of § 41-12a-301, shall also include personal injury protection under § 31A-22-306 though 31A-22-309.

The Supreme Court has declared the extent and breadth of the minimum mandatory coverages in the following instances:

the statutory requirements found in Utah's No-Fault Insurance Act . . . as to minimum benefits must be provided to all persons sustaining personal injuries.

Mastbaum, supra, at 1042-1043 (emphasis supplied).

The No-Fault Act authorizes specific allowable exclusions from coverage This legislative action reflects a public policy requiring minimum coverage to protect innocent victims of automobile accidents.

Call, supra, at 234.

Under this statutory plan, [Utah's No-Fault Act] first party PIP benefits up to the amounts provided in Section 6 [of the Act] are paid to an injured person without regard to fault.

Allstate Ins. Co. v. Ivie, 606 P.2d 1197 (Utah 1980), at 1200. (Emphasis supplied).

It is clear, given the opinions of Justices Durham and Zimmerman in Mastbaum, supra, the legislative history and the 1986 amendment to the No-Fault Act, that Utah's public policy is that all injured parties are entitled, without regard to fault, the minimum protection provided as personal injury benefits.

In McKeon, the Arizona Supreme Court citing Calvert v. Farmers Insurance Co., 144 Ariz. 291, 697 P.2d 684 (1985) at declared at page 698 that:

Our statutes require an insurer to provide full uninsured motorist coverage to every insured, whether driving an automobile, strolling down the side walk, or relaxing in the front porch swing.

and then concluded at page 41 of McKeon:

Thus we hold the purported exclusion of uninsured motorist coverage is contrary to public policy and void

Utah's mandatory Financial Responsibility Act, the No-Fault Act and the statutory liability of a parent or guardian signing a driver's license application under § 41-2-115 establishes Utah's public policy to provide the minimum PIP coverage for every person injured in an automobile accident.

Under Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-307 (a)(c) & (d), (1986), Appellant is entitled to the following personal injury protection benefits:

(a) the reasonable value of all expenses for necessary medical, surgical, X-ray, dental, rehabilitation (which includes prosthetic devices), ambulance, hospital, and nursing services, not to exceed a total of \$3,000 per person; . . .

(b) funeral, burial, or cremation benefits not to exceed a total of \$1,500 per person; and

(d) compensation on account of death of a person, payable to his heirs, in the total of \$3,000.

Accordingly, Appellant is entitled to \$3,000 for medical expenses, \$1,500 for funeral and burial expenses and \$3,000 on the account of Chris McCaffery's death for a total recovery under personal injury protection of \$7,500, together with interest and attorneys' fees assessed under Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(5) (1986).

POINT III

PAT GROW IS JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY LIABLE WITH STATE FARM FOR PIP COVERAGE

In the settlement with Grow, the Appellant specifically reserved his claim for the PIP mandatory coverage against State Farm. Any liability of Pat Grow is covered by the PIP provisions of State Farm's insurance policy. Utah Code Ann. § 41-2-115 (2) provides in pertinent part that:

Any negligence or willful misconduct of a minor younger than 18 years of age when operating a motor vehicle upon a highway is imputed to the person who has signed the application of the minor for a permit or license. This person is jointly and severally liable with the minor for any damages caused by the negligence or willful misconduct . . .

Pat Grow admitted that she signed Rodney Grow's application for a driver's license. Accordingly, under Utah law, she is strictly liable for the damages arising from Rodney Grow's negligence and reckless disregard for Christopher McCaffery's safety and the damages resulting from his death including personal injury protection benefits.

State Farm contends that because Rodney Grow did not have the owner's permission to use the automobile involved in the accident, State Farm is not obligated to provide any coverage to Pat Grow and has refused to provide Appellant with the personal injury protection benefits under Grow's policy. Appellant's contention is absolutely contrary to rulings of other courts which have considered such a proposition.

In United Services Automobile Association v. Crandall, 594 P.2d 704 (Nev. 1979), a case with striking parallels to the case at bar, the Nevada Supreme Court held that where an imputed liability statute placed a legal liability upon an insured father for damages caused by negligence or willful misconduct of his daughter in driving a motor vehicle, and the provisions of the father's insurance policy required the insurer to pay all sums which the father should become legally obligated to pay as damages arising out of the use of any non-owned automobile, such language afforded coverage to the father for his daughter's negligent use of a non-owned automobile, even though the daughter was driving the vehicle without the owner's permission.

In Crandall, the sixteen year old daughter of the insured drove an automobile without the permission of the owner, and while doing so was involved in an accident which caused the death of three boys. Before the accident, the father had signed as a sponsor for his daughter to obtain a

learner's permit. The father's policy obligated the insurer "to pay on behalf of the insured all sums which the insured shall become legally obligated to pay as damages . . . arising out of the . . . use of . . . any non-owned automobile. Id. at 705.

Pat Grow's insurance policy, (the "**Policy**") requires State Farm "to pay damages which an insured becomes legally liable to pay because of bodily injury . . . caused by accident resulting from the ownership, maintenance or use of your car . . ." and provides further that "[t]he liability coverage extends to use, by an insured of a . . . non-owned car." The Policy defines "bodily injury" as "bodily injury to a person and . . . death which results from it." (See the Policy R. 72-90). The provisions of the liability policies in Crandall and this case are virtually identical.

In Crandall, the insurer contended that insurance coverage was not afforded to the father because his daughter was driving a non-owned vehicle without the permission of the owner and because the policy only provided coverage to "any relative . . . provided his actual operation . . . is with the permission, or reasonably believed to be with the permission, of the owner and is within the scope of such permission" Id. at 706.

Despite the insurer's contentions, the Nevada Supreme Court held that "the words of the clause regarding permissive

use apply only to 'any relative,' and do not in any manner limit the coverage afforded to the name insured" and ruled that the insurer was obliged to defend the father, and, to the extent of policy limits, pay any judgment entered against him. See also State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. Eastman, 204 Cal. Rptr. 827 (1984).

Under the rationale of Crandall and Utah law, State Farm is obligated by law and the terms of the insurance policy to pay all sums which Pat Grow would be legally obligated to pay including personal injury protection required by Utah Code Ann. § 41-2-115 and 31A-22-306 to -309 (1986). Otherwise, Pat Grow's policy does not comply with the requirements of Utah law to provide personal injury protection "which must be provided to all persons sustaining personal injury." Mastbaum at 1043 (emphasis added).

POINT IV

THE GROSS AMBIGUITIES IN THE INSURANCE POLICY SHOULD BE CONSTRUED IN FAVOR OF THE INSURED TO PROVIDE PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION TO INJURED PERSONS IN COMPLIANCE WITH UTAH LAW

The California Court of Appeals construing a State Farm insurance policy virtually identical to the one at issue here held:

To begin with, the provisions under consideration are clearly ambiguous. . . . As set forth above, Part I, the section headed Liability, commences by stating quite broadly that State Farm agrees to pay damage

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