1988

Michael H. McCaffery v. Terry Raymond Grow : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The non-owned car exclusion has nothing to do with whether or not Chris McCaffery is entitled to PIP benefits. The non-owned car exclusion is found in the liability section of Rodney Grow's policy and was relied upon by State Farm in denying liability coverage to the Grows, but that part of the case has settled and the non-owned car exclusion is no longer at issue. The issue on appeal is whether or not Chris McCaffery is entitled to PIP benefits even though he was occupying Michael Morris' vehicle at the time of the accident and not Rodney Grow's vehicle. This issue should be resolved in favor of State Farm

since the Insurance Code and case law clearly state that PIP benefits can only be afforded to Chris McCaffery if he was an occupant in Rodney Grow's vehicle at the time of the accident.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

CHRIS McCAFFERY IS ENTITLED TO PIP BENEFITS FROM HIS OWN INSURER, ASSUMING HE WAS INSURED, BUT NOT FROM STATE FARM. PLAINTIFF HAS CONFUSED LIABILITY COVERAGE WITH PIP COVERAGE.

Plaintiff is confused. State Farm relied on the non-owned car exclusion to deny liability coverage to the Grows. It did not rely on the non-owned car exclusion to deny PIP benefits to Chris McCaffery. The non-owned car exclusion appears in the liability section of the policy. See page 5 of the policy and the definition of a "Non-Owned Car" on page 2 of the policy. The non-owned car exclusion does not even appear in Section II of the policy dealing with PIP benefits.

State Farm denied PIP benefits on the ground that Chris McCaffery was not occupying Rodney Grow's vehicle at the time of the accident but was rather occupying Michael Morris' vehicle. See letter attached hereto in the addendum. An insured for purposes of personal injury protection coverage is defined as follows on page 8 of the policy:

Insured -- means:

1. you, your spouse or any relative:
 - a. while occupying a motor vehicle; or
 - b. when a pedestrian, if the bodily injury results from physical contact with a motor vehicle or motorcycle; or
 - c. when occupying a motorcycle, if the bodily injury results from physical contact with a motor vehicle; and
2. any other person:
 - a. while occupying your car or a newly acquired car with the permission of:
 - (1) you, your spouse, any relative;
or
 - (2) the person driving such car
with your permission; or
 - b. when struck as a pedestrian by your car or a newly acquired car.

The second provision applies to Chris McCaffery since he was not a relative of Rodney Grow. Provision 2. states that Chris McCaffery is only entitled to PIP benefits if he was occupying "your car." "Your Car" is defined on page 3 of the policy as follows:

Your Car -- means the car or the vehicle described on the declarations page.

The vehicle described on the declarations page of the policy is Rodney Grow's 1976 two-door Mustang. (The declarations page appears at the very front of the policy.) Since Chris McCaffery was not occupying Rodney Grow's vehicle at the time of the accident, State Farm denied PIP benefits. The non-owned car

exclusion had nothing to do with denying PIP benefits to Chris McCaffery. The non-owned car exclusion was however relied upon in denying liability coverage to the Grow's. But that part of the case has been settled and is no longer at issue. The issue involved herein is whether the definition of "insured" for purposes of personal injury protection coverage violates the motor vehicle provisions of the new Insurance Code. It does not. The language of Rodney Grow's policy patterns that of the Insurance Code.

Section 31A-22-308 describes those persons who are entitled to PIP benefits:

31A-22-308. Persons covered by personal injury protection.

The following may receive benefits under personal injury protection coverage:

(1) the named insured and persons related to the insured by blood, marriage, adoption, or guardianship who are residents of the insured's household, including those who usually make their home in the same household but temporarily live elsewhere, when injured in an accident in Utah involving any motor vehicle; and

(2) any other natural person whose injuries arise out of an automobile accident occurring in Utah while the person occupies a motor vehicle described in the policy with the express or implied consent of the named insured or while a pedestrian if he is injured in an accident involving the described motor vehicle.

(Emphasis added.) Section (2) of the statute applies, again because Chris McCaffery was not a relative of Rodney Grow. Like the policy, section (2) states that Chris McCaffery is only

entitled to PIP benefits when occupying the "motor vehicle described in the policy." As previously indicated, the motor vehicle described in Rodney Grow's policy is a 1976 two-door Mustang. Since Chris McCaffery was not occupying Rodney Grow's vehicle at the time of the accident but was rather occupying Michael Morris' uninsured vehicle, Chris McCaffery is not entitled to PIP benefits. However, Chris McCaffery is entitled to PIP benefits under his own policy of insurance, assuming he was insured, or the policy of his parents, since in that case section (1) of the statute would apply, i.e., Chris McCaffery would be the named insured or a relative of the named insured, and section (1) applies to "any motor vehicle," not just to those vehicles described on the declarations page of the policy.

Therefore, assuming Chris McCaffery or his parents had purchased a policy of insurance, there are no gaps in the no-fault coverage; Chris' injuries and death will be compensated. However, if the McCafferys were uninsured, they have no one to blame but themselves.

Two cases are on point; one is from Utah and the other is from Florida. In Osuala v. Aetna Life & Cas., 608 P.2d 242 (Utah 1980) plaintiff Oscar Osuala, an uninsured motorist, collided with the rear of a truck driven by Clark Olson and owned by Olson Construction Co. Plaintiff brought suit against Aetna Life

& Casualty, the construction company's insurer, seeking PIP benefits.

The court was called upon to construe § 31-41-7, the predecessor of § 31A-22-308. The statutes are substantially similar. Section 31-41-7 reads as follows:

(1) The coverages described in section 31-41-6 shall be applicable to:

(a) Personal injuries sustained by the insured in an accident in this state involving any motor vehicle.

(b) Personal injuries arising out of automobile accidents occurring in this state sustained by any other natural person while occupying the described motor vehicle with the consent of the insured or while a pedestrian if injured in an accident involving the described motor vehicle.

The court held that since plaintiff was not occupying the described motor vehicle (i.e., the truck) at the time of the accident, he was not entitled to PIP benefits. The court then added:

In regard to the plaintiff's urgence that the no-fault law is intended to provide coverage for others who might be injured as a result of an automobile accident, it is pertinent to observe that he himself has not met that requirement, because he was driving without insurance. An important aspect of the Act is the requirement that the PIP protections for an injured motorist are to be paid by his own insurer. To permit the plaintiff to violate the Act, and nevertheless insist upon compensation from the other motorist's insurer, regardless of fault, would reward him for his wrong, and would tend to defeat the purposes of the Act.

Id. at 243-44. Summary judgment was affirmed in favor of Aetna.

Protective National Ins. Co. of Omaha v. Padron, 310 So.2d 432 (Fla. App. 1975) is squarely on point. Plaintiff, who was uninsured, was the passenger in an uninsured vehicle. The

driver of the vehicle, however, was insured. Plaintiff was injured in a collision and sought PIP benefits from the driver's policy. The driver's policy read as follows:

PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION

The Company will pay, in accordance with the Florida Automobile Reparations Reform Act, to or for the benefit of the injured person:

(a) all reasonable medical expenses, and

(b) . . .

(c) . . . expenses, incurred as a result of bodily injury, caused by an accident arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle and sustained by:

(1) the named insured or any relative while occupying a motor vehicle or, while a pedestrian, through being struck by a motor vehicle; or

(2) any other person while occupying the insured motor vehicle or, while a pedestrian, through being struck by the insured motor vehicle.

Id. at 433. The court stated as follows:

The passenger contends that the phrase "arising out of . . . use of a motor vehicle" should be construed so as to grant her coverage. This construction is not supported by the terms of the policy or the Florida Automobile Reparations Reform (No Fault) Act. The phrase appears in paragraph (c) of the personal injury protection provision, but it cannot be extracted and construed on its own. Considering it in the context of the entire provision, paragraphs (a) through (c) including subparagraphs (1) and (2), *supra* leads us to the conclusion that coverage is not provided for this passenger. The meaning of the provision is that expenses will be paid for bodily injury caused by an accident arising out of use of a motor vehicle and sustained by any other person while occupying the insured motor vehicle. This factual situation does not obtain in the instant case.

. . .

The No Fault Act requires that the owner of a motor vehicle have insurance, not the driver. Therefore, the injured passenger, having no insurance of her own, must look to the owner of the motor vehicle for personal injury protection benefits irrespective of negligence.

Id. at 433-34 (emphasis in original). Since the owner of the vehicle was also uninsured, plaintiff was unable to recover any insurance benefits. However, she had no one to blame but herself. Had she been insured, she could have collected PIP benefits from her own company.

PIP coverage works as follows: Assuming Michael Morris was insured and Chris McCaffery was occupying his vehicle with his permission, section (2) of 31A-22-308 would apply and Morris' insurance would be primary pursuant to § 31A-22-309(4). However, since Morris was uninsured and Chris McCaffery was occupying his vehicle without his permission, Chris McCaffery must look to section (1) of 31A-22-308 and to his own policy of insurance for secondary coverage. Rodney Grow's policy is not even involved. Rodney Grow's policy does, however, extend PIP benefits to Rodney, but it in no way extends PIP benefits to Chris. If the McCafferys were uninsured, they have no one to blame but themselves.

It is interesting to note that the other two occupants in the vehicle (Quintana and Grow) did obtain PIP benefits from their own insurers.

Plaintiff next argues that State Farm's policy is ambiguous; however, this argument is limited to the non-owned car exclusion

and, as already indicated, this exclusion was not relied upon by State Farm in denying PIP benefits. In fact, State Farm could not have relied upon this exclusion in denying PIP benefits since this exclusion appears in the liability section of the policy and not in the no-fault section of the policy. Plaintiff misperceives the issue. State Farm relied on the non-owned car exclusion in denying liability coverage to the Grows, but this exclusion has no bearing on whether or not Chris McCaffery is entitled to PIP benefits.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF HAS ALREADY SETTLED HIS LIABILITY CLAIM WITH STATE FARM.

Plaintiff's argument that Pat Grow is jointly and severally liable for Chris McCaffery's death has already been disposed of. Plaintiff settled his liability claim with Pat Grow. See RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS and STIPULATION, MOTION AND ORDER OF DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE (R-211) attached hereto in the addendum. Moreover, Pat Grow's liability has nothing whatsoever to do with whether or not Chris McCaffery is entitled to PIP benefits. Pat Grow's liability is governed by the liability section of her policy, not by the no-fault section. As previously indicated, the issue of liability coverage has already been settled. The only remaining issue is PIP coverage. The case cited by plaintiff, United Services Automobile Association v. Crandall, deals with liability coverage, not PIP coverage, and is

therefore wholly inapplicable. Liability coverage and PIP coverage are two different issues.

Moreover, § 41-2-115(2) does not even apply because Rodney Grow had purchased a policy of automobile insurance which fully complied with the Financial Responsibility Act. Section 41-2-115(2) specifically states that it is qualified by § 41-2-115(3).

The sections read as follows:

(2) Any negligence or willful misconduct of a minor younger than 18 years of age when operating a motor vehicle upon a highway is imputed to the person who has signed the application of the minor for a permit or license. This person is jointly and severally liable with the minor for any damages caused by the negligence or willful misconduct, except as provided under Subsection (3). This liability provision is an exception to any conflicting liability provisions in the code.

(3) If a minor deposits, or there is deposited on his behalf, proof of financial responsibility in respect to the operation of a motor vehicle he owns, or with respect to the operation of any motor vehicle if he does not own one, in form and in amounts as required under Chapter 12a, Title 41, Financial Responsibility of Motor Vehicle Owners and Operators Act, the division may accept the application of the minor when signed by a parent or guardian of the minor. While the proof is maintained, that person is not subject to the liability imposed under Subsection (2).

(Emphasis added.) Since Rodney Grow had purchased a policy of insurance, his liability cannot be imputed to Pat Grow. This issue is thoroughly discussed in 45 A.L.R.4th 87 § 29. Moreover, in Phillips v. Tooele City Corporation, 500 P.2d 669, 674 (Utah 1972) the court specifically held that these "statutes were designed solely to protect innocent third parties from the negligence of a minor driver by providing financial responsibility." If financial responsibility is provided, the